This document contains English and French versions.

English: Page 2 French: Page 36



An Integrated, Prosperous and Peaceful Africa

AFRICAN CHARTER ON THE RIGHTS AND WELFARE OF THE CHILD

www.au.int 🕑 🗗 回 💼



AFRICAN CHARTER ON THE RIGHTS AND WELFARE OF THE CHILD

Adopted by

by the 26th Ordinary Session of the Assembly of Heads of State and Government of the OAU

Addis Ababa, Ethiopia - July 1990 Entered into force on 29 November, 1999

> AFRICAN CHARTER on the Rights and Welfare of the Child

Table of Contents

PREAMBLE 07

PART I: RIGHTS AND DUTIES 08

CHAPTER ONE

RIGHTS AND WEI FARE OF THE CHILD 08 **ARTICLE 1:** OBLIGATION OF STATES PARTIES 08 ARTICLE 2: DEFINITION OF A CHILD 09 ARTICLE 3: NON-DISCRIMINATION 09 ARTICLE 4: BEST INTERESTS OF THE CHILD 09 ARTICLE 5: SURVIVAL AND DEVELOPMENT 09 ARTICLE 6: NAME AND NATIONALITY 10 **ARTICLE 7:** FREEDOM OF EXPRESSION 10 ARTICLE 8: FREEDOM OF ASSOCIATION 10 **ARTICLE 9:** FREEDOM OF THOUGHT, CONSCIENCE AND RELIGION 10 **ARTICLE 10: PROTECTION OF PRIVACY 11** ARTICLE 11: EDUCATION 11 ARTICLE 12: LEISURE, RECREATION AND CULTURAL ACTIVITIES 11 **ARTICLE 13: HANDICAPPED CHILDREN 13 ARTICLE 14:** HEALTH AND HEALTH SERVICES 14 ARTICLE 15: CHILD LABOUR 15 **ARTICLE 16:** PROTECTION AGAINST CHILD ABUSE AND TORTURE **15 ARTICLE 17:** ADMINISTRATION OF JUVENILE JUSTICE 16 **ARTICLE 18: PROTECTION OF THE FAMILY 17 ARTICLE 19: PARENTAL CARE AND PROTECTION 17 ARTICLE 20: PARENTAL RESPONSIBILITIES 18**

ARTICLE 21: PROTECTION AGAINST HARMFUL SOCIAL AND CULTURAL



PRACTICES 18

ARTICLE 22: ARMED CONFLICTS **19**

ARTICLE 23: REFUGEE CHILDREN 19

ARTICLE 24: ADOPTION 20

ARTICLE 25: SEPARATION FROM PARENTS 21

ARTICLE 26: PROTECTION AGAINST APARTHEID AND DISCRIMINATION 21

ARTICLE 27: SEXUAL EXPLOITATION 22

ARTICLE 28: DRUG ABUSE 22

ARTICLE 29: SALE, TRAFFICKING AND ABDUCTION 23

ARTICLE 30: CHILDREN OF IMPRISONED MOTHERS 23

ARTICLE 31: RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE CHILD 23

PART II 24

CHAPTER TWO

ESTABLISHMENT AND ORGANIZATION OF THE COMMITTEE ON THE RIGHTS AND WELFARE OF THE CHILD 24 ARTICLE 32: THE COMMITTEE 24 ARTICLE 33: COMPOSITION 24 ARTICLE 34: ELECTION 25 ARTICLE 35: CANDIDATES 25 ARTICLE 36: 25 ARTICLE 37: TERM OF OFFICE 25 ARTICLE 38: BUREAU 26 ARTICLE 39: VACANCY 26 ARTICLE 40: SECRETARIAT 26 ARTICLE 41: PRIVILEGES AND IMMUNITIES 27



5

CHAPTER THREE

MANDATE AND PROCEDURE OF THE COMMITTEE 27

ARTICLE 42: MANDATE 27

ARTICLE 43: REPORTING PROCEDURE 28

ARTICLE 44: COMMUNICATIONS 28

ARTICLE 45: INVESTIGATIONS BY THE COMMITTEES 29

CHAPTER FOUR

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 29

ARTICLE 46: SOURCES OF INSPIRATION 29

ARTICLE 47: SIGNATURE RATIFICATION OR ADHERENCE 30

ARTICLE 48: AMENDMENT AND REVISION OF THE CHARTER 30



PREAMBLE

The African Member States of the Organization of African Unity, Parties to the present Charter entitled "African Charter on the Rights and Welfare of the Child",

CONSIDERING that the Charter of the Organization of African Unity recognizes the paramountcy of Human Rights and the African Charter on Human and People's Rights proclaimed and agreed that everyone is entitled to all the rights and freedoms recognized and guaranteed therein, without distinction of any kind such as race, ethnic group, colour, sex, language, religion, political or any other opinion, national and social origin, fortune, birth or other status,

RECALLING the Declaration on the Rights and Welfare of the African Child (AHG/ST.4 Rev.I) adopted by the Assembly of Heads of State and Government of the Organization of African Unity, at its Sixteenth Ordinary Session in Monrovia, Liberia, from 17 to 20 July, 1979 recognized the need to take all appropriate measures to promote and protect the rights and welfare of the African Child,

NOTING WITH CONCERN that the situation of most African children, remains critical due to the unique factors of their socio-economic, cultural, traditional and developmental circumstances, natural disasters, armed conflicts, exploitation and hunger, and on account of the child's physical and mental immaturity he/she needs special safeguards and care,

RECOGNIZING that the child, due to the needs of his physical and mental development requires particular care with regard to health, physical, mental, moral and social development, and requires legal protection in conditions of freedom, dignity and security,

TAKING INTO CONSIDERATION the virtues of their cultural heritage, historical background and the values of the African civilization which should inspire and characterize their reflection on the concept of the rights and welfare of the child,



7

CONSIDERING that the promotion and protection of the rights and welfare of the child also implies the performance of duties on the part of everyone,

REAFFIRMING ADHERENCE to the principles of the rights and welfare of the child contained in the declaration, conventions and other instruments of the Organization of African Unity and in the United Nations and in particular the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child; and the OAU Heads of State and Government's Declaration on the Rights and Welfare of the African Child.

HAVE AGREED as follows:

PART I: RIGHTS AND DUTIES

CHAPTER ONE RIGHTS AND WELFARE OF THE CHILD

Article 1 OBLIGATION OF STATES PARTIES

- 1. The Member States of the Organization of African Unity Parties to the present Charter shall recognize the rights, freedoms and duties enshrines in this Charter and shall undertake to take the necessary steps, in accordance with their Constitutional processes and with the provisions of the present Charter, to adopt such legislative or other measures as may be necessary to give effect to the provisions of this Charter.
- 2. Nothing in this Charter shall affect any provisions that are more conductive to the realization of the rights and welfare of the child contained in the law of a State Party or in any other international convention or agreement in force in that State.
- **3.** Any custom, tradition, cultural or religious practice that is inconsistent with the rights, duties and obligations contained in the present Charter shall to the extent of such inconsistency be discouraged.



Article 2 DEFINITION OF A CHILD

For the purposes of this Charter, a child means every human being below the age of 18 years.

Article 3 NON-DISCRIMINATION

Every child shall be entitled to the enjoyment of the rights and freedoms recognized and guaranteed in this Charter irrespective of the child's or his/her parents' or legal guardians' race, ethnic group, colour, sex, language, religion, political or other opinion, national and social origin, fortune, birth or other status.

Article 4 BEST INTERESTS OF THE CHILD

- In all actions concerning the child undertaken by any person or authority the best interests of the child shall be the primary consideration.
- 2. In all judicial or administrative proceedings affecting a child who is capable of communicating his/her own views, and opportunity shall be provided for the views of the child to be heard either directly or through an impartial representative as a party to the proceedings, and those views shall be taken into consideration by the relevant authority in accordance with the provisions of appropriate law.

Article 5 SURVIVAL AND DEVELOPMENT

- **1.** Every child has an inherent right to life. This right shall be protected by law.
- 2. States Parties to the present Charter shall ensure, to the maximum extent possible, the survival, protection and development of the child.
- **3.** Death sentence shall not be pronounced for crimes committed by children.



Article 6 NAME AND NATIONALITY

- 1. Every child shall have the right from his birth to a name.
- 2. Every child shall be registered immediately after birth.
- 3. Every child has the right to acquire a nationality.
- 4. States Parties to the present Charter shall undertake to ensure that their Constitutional legislation recognize the principles according to which a child shall acquire the nationality of the State in the territory of which he has been born if, at the time of the child's birth, he is not granted nationality by any other State in accordance with its laws.

Article 7 FREEDOM OF EXPRESSION

Every child who is capable of communicating his or her own views shall be assured the rights to express his opinions freely in all matters and to disseminate his opinions subject to such restrictions as are prescribed by laws.

Article 8 FREEDOM OF ASSOCIATION

Every child shall have the right to free association and freedom of peaceful assembly in conformity with the law.

Article 9 FREEDOM OF THOUGHT, CONSCIENCE AND RELIGION

- **1.** Every child shall have the right to freedom of thought, conscience and religion.
- **2.** Parents, and where applicable, legal guardians shall have a duty to provide guidance and direction in the exercise of these rights having regard to the evolving capacities, and best interests of the child.
- 3. States Parties shall respect the duty of parents and where



applicable, legal guardians to provide guidance and direction in the enjoyment of these rights subject to the national laws and policies.

Article 10 PROTECTION OF PRIVACY

No child shall be subject to arbitrary or unlawful interference with his privacy, family, home or correspondence, or to the attacks upon his honour or reputation, provided that parents or legal guardians shall have the right to exercise reasonable supervision over the conduct of their children. The child has the right to the protection of the law against such interference or attacks.

Article 11 EDUCATION

- 1. Every child shall have the right to education.
- 2. The education of the child shall be directed to:
 - (a) the promotion and development of the child's personality, talents and mental and physical abilities to their fullest potential;
 - (b) fostering respect for human rights and fundamental freedoms with particular reference to those set out in the provisions of various African instruments on human and peoples' rights and international human rights declarations and convention;
 - (c) the preservation and strengthening of positive African morals, traditional values and cultures;
 - (d) the preparation of the child for responsible life in a free society, in the spirit of understanding, tolerance, dialogue, mutual respect and friendship among all peoples ethnic, tribal and religious groups;
 - (e) the preservation of national independence and territorial integrity;
 - (f) the promotion and achievements of African Unity and Solidarity;
 - (g) the development of respect for the environment and natural resources;
 - (h) the promotion of the child's understanding of primary health care.



- **3.** States Parties to the present Charter shall take all appropriate measures with a view to achieving the full realization of this right and shall in particular:
 - (a) provide free and compulsory basic education:
 - (b) encourage the development of secondary education in its different forms and to progressively make it free and accessible to all;
 - (c) make the higher education accessible to all on the basis of capacity and ability by every appropriate means;
 - (d) take measures to encourage regular attendance at schools and the reduction of drop-out rate;
 - (e) take special measures in respect of female, gifted and disadvantaged children, to ensure equal access to education for all sections of the community.
- 4. States Parties to the present Charter shall respect the rights and duties of parents, and where applicable, of legal guardians to choose for their' children schools, other than those established by public authorities, which conform to such minimum standards may be approved by the state, to ensure the religious and moral education of the child in a manner with the evolving capacities of the child.
- **5.** States Parties to the present Charter shall take all appropriate measures to ensure that a child who is subjected to schools or parental discipline shall be treated with humanity and with respect for the inherent dignity of the child and in conformity with the present Charter.
- 6. States Parties to the present Charter shall take all appropriate measures to ensure that children who become pregnant before completing their education shall have an opportunity to continue with their education on the basis of their individual ability.
- 7. No part of this Article shall be construed as to interfere with the liberty of individuals and bodies to establish and direct educational institutions subject to the observance of the principles set out in Paragraph 1 of this Article and the requirement that the education given in such institutions shall conform to such minimum standards as may be laid down by the states.



Article 12 LEISURE, RECREATION AND CULTURAL ACTIVITIES

- States Parties recognize the right of the child to rest and leisure, to engage in play and recreational activities appropriate to the age of the child and to participate freely in cultural life and the arts.
- 2. States Parties shall respect and promote the right of the child to fully. participate in cultural and artistic life and shall encourage the provision of appropriate and equal opportunities for cultural, artistic, recreational and leisure activity.

ARTICLE 13 HANDICAPPED CHILDREN

- Every child who is mentally or physically disabled shall have the right to special measures of protection in keeping with his physical and moral needs and under conditions which ensure his dignity, promote his self-reliance and active participation in the community.
- 2. States Parties to the present Charter shall ensure, subject to available resources, to a disabled child and to those responsible for his care, of assistance for which application is made and which is appropriate to the child's condition and in particular shall ensure that the disabled child has effective access to training, preparation for employment and recreation opportunities in a manner conducive to the child achieving the fullest possible social integration, individual development and His cultural and moral development.
- **3.** The States Parties to the present Charter shall use their available resources with a view to achieving progressively the full convenience of the mentally and physically disabled person to movement and access to public highway buildings and other places to which the disabled may legitimately want to have access to.



Article 14 HEALTH AND HEALTH SERVICES ■

- **1.** This Article shall apply to the offences established by the State Parties in accordance with this Convention.
- Offences falling within the jurisdiction of this Convention shall be deemed to be included in the internal laws of State Parties as crimes requiring extradition. State Parties shall include such offences as extraditable offences in extradition treaties existing between or among them.
 - (a) to reduce infant and child mortality rate;
 - (b) to ensure the provision of necessary medical assistance and health care to all children with emphasis on the development of primary health care;
 - (c) to ensure the provision of adequate nutrition and safe drinking water;
 - (d) to combat disease and malnutrition within the framework of primary health care through the application of appropriate technology;
 - (e) to ensure appropriate health care for expectant and nursing mothers;
 - (f) to develop preventive health care and family life education and provision of service;
 - (g) to integrate basic health service programmes in national development plans;
 - (h) to ensure that all sectors of the society, in particular parents, children, community leaders and community workers are informed and supported in the use of basic knowledge of child health and nutrition, the advantages of breastfeeding, hygiene and environmental sanitation and the prevention of domestic and other accidents;
 - (i) to ensure the meaningful participation of non-governmental organizations, local communities and the beneficiary population in the planning and management of basic service programme for children;
 - (j) to support through technical and financial means, the mobilization of local community resources in the development of primary health care for children.



Article 15 CHILD LABOUR

- Every child shall be protected from all forms of economic exploitation and from performing any work that is likely to be hazardous or to interfere with the child's physical, mental, spiritual, moral, or social development.
- 2. States Parties to the present Charter shall take all appropriate legislative and administrative measures to ensure the full implementation of this Article which covers both the formal and informal sectors of employment and having regard to the relevant provisions of the International Labour Organization's instruments relating to children, States Parties shall in particular:
 - (a) provide through legislation, minimum ages for admission to every employment;
 - (b) provide for appropriate regulation of hours and conditions of employment;
 - (c) provide for appropriate penalties or other sanctions to ensure the effective enforcement of this Article;
 - (d) promote the dissemination of information on the hazardous of child labour to all sectors of the community.

Article 16 PROTECTION AGAINST CHILD ABUSE AND TORTURE

- States Parties to the present Charter shall take specific legislative, administrative, social and educational measures to protect the child from all forms of torture, inhuman or degrading treatment and especially physical or mental injury or abuse, neglect or maltreatment including sexual abuse, while in the care of a parent, legal guardian or school authority or any other person who has the care of the child.
- 2. Protective measures under this Article shall include effective procedures for the establishment of special monitoring units to provide necessary support for the child and for those who have the care of the child, as well as other forms of prevention and for



identification, reporting referral investigation, treatment, and followup of instances of child abuse and neglect.

Article 17 ADMINISTRATION OF JUVENILE JUSTICE

- Every child accused or found guilty of having infringed penal law shall have the right to special treatment in a manner consistent will the child's sense of dignity and worth and which reinforces the child respect for human rights and fundamental freedoms of others.
- 2. States Parties to the present Charter shall in particular:
 - (a) ensure that no child who is detained or imprisoned or otherwise deprived of his/her liberty is subjected to torture, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment;
 - (b) ensure that children are separated from adults in their place of detention or imprisonment;
 - (c) ensure that every child accused of infringing the penal law:
 - i. shall be presumed innocent until duly recognized guilty;
 - shall be informed promptly in a language that he understands and in detail of the charge against him, and shall be entitled to the assistance of an interpreter if he or she cannot understand the language used;
 - iii. shall be afforded legal and other appropriate assistance in the preparation and presentation of his defence;
 - iv. shall have the matter determined as speedily as possible by an impartial tribunal and if found guilty, be entitled to an appeal by a higher tribunal;
 - v. shall not be compelled to give testimony or confess guilt.
- **3.** The essential aim of treatment of every child during the trial and also if found guilty of infringing the penal law shall be his or her reformation, re-integration into his or her family and social rehabilitation.
- **4.** There shall be a minimum age below which children shall be presumed not to have the capacity to infringe the penal law.



Article 18 PROTECTION OF THE FAMILY

- The family shall be the natural unit and basis of society. It shall enjoy the protection and support of the State for its establishment and development.
- 2. States Parties to the present Charter shall take appropriate steps to ensure equality of rights and responsibilities of spouses with regard to children during marriage and in the event of its dissolution. In case the dissolution, provision shall be made for the necessary protection of the child.
- **3.** No child shall be deprived of maintenance by reference to the parents' marital status.

Article 19 PARENTAL CARE AND PROTECTION

- Every child shall be entitled to the enjoyment of parental care and protection and shall, whenever possible, have the right to reside with his or her parents. No child shall be separated from his parents against his will, except when a judicial authority determines in accordance with the appropriate law, that such separation is in the best interest of the child.
- **2.** Every child who is separated from one or both parents shall have the right to maintain personal relations and direct contact with both parents on a regular basis.
- **3.** Where separation results from the action of a State Party, the State Party shall provide the child, or if appropriate, another member of the family with essential information concerning the whereabouts of the. absent member or members of the family. States Parties shall also ensure that the submission of such a request shall not entail any adverse consequences for the person or persons in whose respect it is made.
- **4.** Where a child is apprehended by a State Party, his parents or guardians shall, as soon as possible, be notified of such apprehension by that State Party.



17

Article 20 PARENTAL RESPONSIBILITIES

- 1. Parents or other persons responsible for the child shall have the primary responsibility for the upbringing and development of the child and shall have the duty:
 - (a) to ensure that the best interests of the child are their basic concern at all times;
 - (b) to secure, within their abilities and financial capacities, conditions of living necessary to the child's development; and
 - (c) to ensure that domestic discipline is administered with humanity and in a manner consistent with the inherent dignity of the child.
- **2.** States Parties to the present Charter shall in accordance with their means and national conditions take all appropriate measures;
 - (a) to assist parents and other persons responsible for the child and in case of need provide material assistance and support programmes particularly with regard to nutrition, health, education, clothing and housing;
 - (b) to assist parents and others responsible for the child in the performance of child-rearing and ensure the development of institutions responsible for providing care of children; and
 - (c) to ensure that the children of working parents are provided with care services and facilities .

Article 21

PROTECTION AGAINST HARMFUL SOCIAL AND CULTURAL PRACTICES

- States Parties to the present Charter shall take all appropriate measures to eliminate harmful social and cultural practices affecting the welfare, dignity, normal growth and development of the child and in particular:
 - (a) those customs and practices prejudicial to the health or life of the child; and
 - (b) those customs and practices discriminatory to the child -on the grounds of sex or other status.



2. Child marriage and the betrothal of girls and boys shall be prohibited and effective action, including legislation, shall be taken to specify the minimum age of marriage to be eighteen years and make registration of all marriages in an official registry compulsory.

Article 22 ARMED CONFLICTS

- States Parties to this Charter shall undertake to respect and ensure respect for rules of international humanitarian law applicable in armed conflicts which affect the child.
- 2. States Parties to the present Charter shall take all necessary measures to ensure that no child shall take a direct part in hostilities and refrain in particular, from recruiting any child.
- **3.** States Parties to the present Charter shall, in accordance with their obligations under international humanitarian law, protect the civilian population in armed conflicts and shall take all feasible measures to ensure the protection and care of children who are affected by armed conflicts. Such rules shall also apply to children in situation of internal armed conflicts, tension and strife.

Article 23 REFUGEE CHILDREN

- 1. States Parties to the present Charter shall take all appropriate measures to ensure that a child who is seeking refugee status or who is considered a refugee in accordance with applicable international or domestic law shall, whether unaccompanied or accompanied by parents, legal guardians or close relatives, receive appropriate protection and humanitarian assistance in the enjoyment of the rights set out in this Charter and other international human right and humanitarian instruments to which the States are parties.
- States Parties shall undertake to cooperate with existing international organizations which protect and assist refugees in their efforts to protect and assist such a child and to trace the parents or other close relatives of an unaccompanied refugee child in order to obtain information necessary for reunification with the family.



- **3.** Where no parents, legal guardians or close relatives can be found, the child shall be accorded the same protection as any other child permanently or temporarily deprived of his family environment for any reason.
- The provisions of this Article apply Mutatis Mutandis to internally displaced children whether through natural disaster, internal armed conflicts, civil strife, breakdown of economic and social order or howsoever caused.

Article 24 ADOPTION

States Parties which recognize the system of adoption shall ensure that the best interest of the child shall be the paramount consideration and

they shall:

- Establish competent authorities to determine matters of adoption and ensure that the adoption is carried out in conformity with applicable laws and procedures and on the basis of all relevant and reliable information, that the adoption is permissible in view of the child's status concerning parents, relatives and guardians and that, if necessary, the appropriate persons concerned have given their informed consent to the adoption on the basis of appropriate counselling;
- 2. Recognize that inter-country adoption in those States who have ratified or adhered to the International Convention on the Rights of the Child or this Charter, may, as the last resort, be considered as an alternative means of child's care, if the child cannot be placed in a foster or an adoptive family or cannot in any suitable manner be cared for in the child's country of origin;
- Ensure that the child affected by inter-country adoption enjoys safeguards and standards equivalent to those existing in the case of national adoption;
- **4.** Take all appropriate measures to ensure that, in intercountry adoption, the placement does not result in trafficking or improper financial gain for those who try to adopt a child;



- 5. Promote, where appropriate, the objectives of this Article by concluding bilateral or multilateral arrangements or agreements, and endeavour, within this framework to ensure that the placement of the child in another country is carried out by competent authorities or organs.
- 6. Establish a machinery to monitor the well-being of the adopted child.

Article 25 SEPARATION FROM PARENTS

- Any child who is permanently or temporarily deprived of his family environment for any reason shall be entitled to special protection and assistance;
- 2. States Parties to the present Charter:
 - (a) shall ensure that a child who is parentless, or who is temporarily or permanently deprived of his or her family environment, or who in his or her best interest cannot be brought up or allowed to remain in that environment shall be provided with alternative family care, which could include, among others, foster placement, or placement in suitable institutions for the care of children;
 - (b) shall take all necessary measures to trace and re-unite children with parents or relatives where separation is caused by internal and external displacement arising from armed conflicts or natural disasters.
- **3.** When considering alternative family care of the child and the best interests of the child, due regard shall be paid to the desirability of continuity in a child's up-bringing and to the child's ethnic, religious or linguistic background.

Article 26 PROTECTION AGAINST APARTHEID AND DISCRIMINATION

 States Parties to the present Charter shall individually and collectively undertake to accord the highest priority to the special needs of children living under Apartheid and in States subject to



military destabilization by the Apartheid regime.

- States Parties to the present Charter shall individually and collectively undertake to accord the highest priority to the special needs of children living under regimes practicing racial, ethnic, religious or other forms of discrimination as well as in States subject to military destabilization.
- States Parties shall undertake to provide whenever possible, material assistance to such children and to direct their efforts towards the elimination of all forms of discrimination and Apartheid on the African Continent.

Article 27 SEXUAL EXPLOITATION

States Parties to the present Charter shall undertake to protect the child from all forms of sexual exploitation and sexual abuse and shall in particular take measures to prevent;

- (a) the inducement, coercion or encouragement of a child to engage in any sexual activity;
- (b) the use of children in prostitution or other sexual practices;
- **(b)** the use of children in pornographic activities, performances and materials.

Article 28 DRUG ABUSE

States Parties to the present Charter shall take all appropriate measures to protect the child from the use of narcotics and illicit use of psychotropic substances as defined in the relevant international treaties, and to prevent the use of children in the production and trafficking of such substances.

Article 29 SALE, TRAFFICKING AND ABDUCTION

States Parties to the present Charter shall take appropriate measures to prevent:

 (a) the abduction, the sale of, or traffic in children for any purpose or in any form, by any person including parents or legal guardians of the child;



(b) the use of children in all forms of begging.

Article 30 CHILDREN OF IMPRISONED MOTHERS

States Parties to the present Charter shall undertake to provide special treatment to expectant mothers and to mothers of infants and young children who have been accused or found guilty of infringing the penal law and shall in particular:

- (a) ensure that a non-custodial sentence will always be first considered when sentencing such mothers;
- (b) establish and promote measures alternative to institutional confinement for the treatment of such mothers;
- (c) establish special alternative institutions for holding such mothers;
- (d) ensure that a mother shall not be imprisoned with her child;
- (e) ensure that a death sentence shall not be imposed on such mothers;
- (f) the essential aim of the penitentiary system will be the reformation, the integration of the mother to the family and social rehabilitation.

Article 31 RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE CHILD

Every child shall have responsibilities towards his family and society, the State and other legally recognized communities and the international community. The child, subject to his age and ability, and such limitations as may be contained in the present Charter, shall have the duty:

- (a) to work for the cohesion of the family, to respect his parents, superiors and elders at all times and to assist them in case of need;
- (b) to serve his national community by placing his physical and intellectual abilities at its service;
- (c) to preserve and strengthen social and national solidarity;
- (d) to preserve and strengthen African cultural values in his relations with other members of the society, in the spirit of tolerance, dialogue and consultation and to contribute to the moral well-being of society;



- (e) to preserve and strengthen the independence and the integrity of his country;
- (f) to contribute to the best of his abilities, at all times and at all levels, to the promotion and achievement of African Unity.

<u>PART II</u>

CHAPTER TWO ESTABLISHMENT AND ORGANIZATION OF THE COMMITTEE ON THE RIGHTS AND WELFARE OF THE CHILD

Article 32 THE COMMITTEE

An African Committee of Experts on the Rights and Welfare of the Child hereinafter called "the Committee" shall be established within the Organization of African Unity to promote and protect the rights and welfare of the child.

Article 33 COMPOSITION

- The Committee shall consist of 11 members of high moral standing, integrity, impartiality and competence in matters of the rights and welfare of the child.
- **2.** The members of the Committee shall serve in their personal capacity.
- **2.** The Committee shall not include more than one national of the same State.

Article 34 ELECTION

As soon as this Charter shall enter into force the members of the



Committee shall be elected by secret ballot by the Assembly of Heads of State and Government from a list of persons nominated by the States Parties to the present Charter.

Article 35 CANDIDATES

Each State Party to the present Charter may nominate not more than two candidates. The candidates must have one of the nationalities of the States Parties to the present Charter. When two candidates are nominated by a State, one of them shall not be a national of that State.

Article 36

- The Secretary-General of the Organization of African unity shall invite States Parties to the present Charter to nominate candidates at least six months before the elections.
- 2. The Secretary-General of the Organization of African Unity shall draw up in alphabetical order, a list of persons nominated and communicate it to the Heads of State and Government at least two months before the elections.

Article 37 TERM OF OFFICE

- The members of the Committee shall be elected for a term of five years and may not be re-elected, however, the term of four of the members elected at the first election shall expire after two years and the term of six others, after four years.
- Immediately after the first election, the Chairman of the Assembly of Heads of State and Government of the Organization of African Unity shall draw lots to determine the names of those members referred to in sub-paragraph 1 of this Article.
- 2. The Secretary-General of the Organization of African Unity shall convene the first meeting of the Committee at the Headquarters of the Organization within six months of the election of the members of the Committee, and thereafter the Committee shall be convened by its Chairman whenever necessary, at least once a year.



Article 38 BUREAU

- 1. The Committee shall establish its own Rules of Procedure.
- 2. The Committee shall elect its officers for a period of two years.
- 3. Seven Committee members shall form the quorum.
- **4.** In case of an equality of votes, the Chairman shall have a casting vote.
- **5.** The working languages of the Committee shall be the official languages of the OAU.

Article 39

If a member of the Committee vacates his office for any reason other than the normal expiration of a term, the State which nominated that member shall appoint another member from among its nationals to serve for the remainder of the term - subject to the approval of the Assembly.

Article 40 SECRETARIAT

Secretary-General of the Organization of African Unity shall appoint a Secretary for the Committee.

Article 41 PRIVILEGES AND IMMUNITIES

In discharging their duties, members of the Committee shall enjoy the privileges and immunities provided for in the General Convention on the Privileges and Immunities of the Organization of African Unity.



CHAPTER THREE MANDATE AND PROCEDURE OF THE COMMITTEE

Article 42 MANDATE

The functions of the Committee shall be:

- (a) To promote and protect the rights enshrined in this Charter and in particular to:
 - collect and document information, commission interdisciplinary assessment of situations on African problems in the fields of the rights and welfare of the child, organize meetings, encourage national and local institutions concerned with the rights and welfare of the child, and where necessary give its views and take recommendations to Governments;
 - formulate and lay down principles and rules aimed at protecting the rights and welfare of children in Africa;
 - iii. cooperate with other African, International and Regional Institutions and Organizations concerned with the promotion and protection of the rights and welfare of the child.
- **(b)** To monitor the implementation and ensure protection of the rights enshrined in this Charter.
- (c) To interpret the provisions of the present Charter at the request of a State Party, an Institution of the Organization of African unity or any other person or Institution recognized by the Organization of African Unity, or any State Party.
- (d) Perform such other tasks as may be entrusted to it by the Assembly of Heads of State and Government, Secretary-General of the OAU and any other organs of the OAU, or the United Nations.

Article 43 REPORTING PROCEDURE

1. Every State Party to the present Charter shall undertake to submit to the Committee through the Secretary-General of the Organization



of African Unity, reports on the measures they have adopted which give effect to the provisions of this Charter and on the progress made in the enjoyment of these rights.

- (a) within two years of the entry into force of the Charter for the State Party concerned; and
- (b) thereafter, every three years.
- 2. Every report made under this Article shall:
 - (a) contain sufficient information on the implementation of the present Charter to provide the Committee with comprehensive understanding of the implementation of the Charter in the relevant country; and
 - **(b)** shall indicate factors and difficulties, if any, affecting the fulfilment of the obligations contained in the Charter.
- **3.** A State Party- which has submitted a comprehensive first report to the Committee need not, in its subsequent reports submitted in accordance with paragraph 1 (a) of this Article, repeat the basic information previously provided.

Article 44 COMMUNICATIONS

- The Community may receive communication, from any person, group or non- governmental organization recognized by the Organization of African Unity, by a Member State, or the United Nations relating to any matter covered by this Charter.
- **2.** Every communication to the Committee shall contain the name and address of the author and shall be treated in confidence.

Article 45 INVESTIGATIONS BY THE COMMITTEE

 The Committee may, resort to any appropriate method of investigating any matter falling within the ambit of the present Charter, request from the States Parties any information relevant to the implementation of the Charter and may also resort to any appropriate method of investigating the measures a State Party has adopted to implement the Charter.



- The Committee shall submit to each Ordinary Session of the Assembly of Heads of State and Government every two years, a report on its activities and on any communication made under Article 46 of this Charter.
- **3.** The Committee shall publish its report after it has been considered by the Assembly of Heads of State and Government.
- **4.** States Parties shall make the Committee's reports widely available to the public in their own countries.

CHAPTER FOUR MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

Article 46 SOURCES OF INSPIRATION

The Committee shall draw inspiration from International Law on Human Rights, particularly from the provisions of the African Charter on Human and Peoples' Rights, the Charter of the Organization of African Unity, the Universal Declaration on Human Rights, the International Convention on the Rights of the Child, and other instruments adopted by the United Nations and by African countries in the field of human rights, and from African values and traditions.

Article 47 SIGNATURE RATIFICATION OR ADHERENCE

- The present Charter shall be open to signature by all the Member States of the Organization of African Unity.
- 2. The present Charter shall be subject to ratification or adherence by Member States of the Organization of African Unity. The instruments of ratification or adherence to the present Charter shall be deposited with the Secretary-General of the Organization of African unity.
- The present Charter shall come into force 30 days after the reception by the Secretary-General of the Organization of African Unity of the instruments of ratification or adherence of 15 Member



States of the Organization of African Unity.

Article 48 AMENDMENT AND REVISION OF THE CHARTER

- The present Charter may be amended or revised if any State Party makes a written request to that effect to the Secretary-General of the Organization of African Unity, provided that the proposed amendment is not submitted to the Assembly of Heads of State and Government for consideration until all the States Parties have been duly notified of it and the Committee has given its opinion on the amendment.
- **2.** An amendment shall be approved by a simple majority of the States Parties.

List of countries which have signed, Ratified/ Acceded to the African Charter on the Rights and Welfare of the Child

Additionally:

- 1. Botswana: Does not consider itself bound by:
 - Article 2 Definition of a Child
- 2. Egypt: Does not consider itself bound by the following Articles:
 - Article 24 Adoption;
 - Article 30(a- e) Children of imprisoned mothers;
 - Article 44 Communications; and
 - Article 45(1) Investigations by Committee.
- 3. Mauritania: Does not consider itself bound by:
 - Article 9 Freedom of conscience and religion
- 4. Sudan: Does not consider itself bound by the following Articles:
 - Article 10 Protection of privacy;
 - **Article 11(6)** Education of children who become pregnant before completing their education; and
- Article 21(2) Child marriage and betrothal of girls and boys.



No	Country /Pays	Date of/de Signature	Date of/ de Ratification/ Accession	Date Deposited/ Date de Depot
1	Algeria	21/05/1999	08/07/2003	24/09/2003
2	Angola	27/01/2012	11/04/1992	07/10/1999
3	Benin	27/02/1992	17/04/1997	30/05/1997
4	Botswana	10/07/2001	10/07/2001	10/07/2001
5	Burkina Faso	27/02/1992	08/06/1992	10/07/1992
6	Burundi	21/05/2004	28/06/2004	24/08/2004
7	Cameroon	16/09/1992	05/09/1997	23/06/1999
8	Central African Rep.	04/02/2003	07/07/2016	01/08/2016
9	Cape Verde	27/02/1992	20/07/1993	01/09/1993
10	Chad	06/12/2004	30/03/2000	04/04/2000
11	Côte d'Ivoire	27/02/2004	01/03/2002	18/06/2007
12	Comoros	26/02/2004	18/03/2004	16/04/2004
13	Congo	28/02/1992	08/09/2006	10/10/2006
14	Djibouti	28/02/1992	03/01/2011	25/01/2011
15	Democratic Rep. of Congo	02/02/2010	-	-
16	Egypt	30/06/1999	09/05/2001	22/05/2001
17	Equatorial Guinea	-	20/12/2002	19/02/2003
18	Eritrea	-	22/12/1999	25/01/2000
19	Ethiopia	-	02/10/2002	27/12/2002
20	Gabon	27/02/1992	18/05/2007	12/06/2007
21	Gambia	-	14/12/2000	30/03/2001
22	Ghana	18/08/1997	10/06/2005	15/07/2005
23	Guinea-Bissau	08/03/2005	19/06/2008	14/10/2008
24	Guinea	22/05/1998	27/05/1999	21/01/2000
25	Kenya	-	25/07/2000	10/08/2000
26	Libya	09/06/1998	23/09/2000	03/11/2000
27	Lesotho	-	27/09/1999	29/10/1999



	Total countries: 55	of signature: 44	of ratification: 49	of deposit: 49
55	Zimbabwe	-	19/01/1995	22/02/1995
54	Zambia	28/02/1992	02/12/2008	10/02/2009
53	Uganda	26/02/1992	17/08/1994	21/10/1994
52	Tunisia	16/06/1995	-	-
51	Тодо	27/02/1992	05/05/1998	18/05/1998
50	Tanzania	23/10/1998	16/03/2003	09/05/2003
49	Eswatini	29/06/1992	05/10/2012	06/11/2012
48	Sudan	-	30/07/2005	18/07/2008
47	Sao Tome & Principe	01/02/2010	18/04/2019	27/06/2019
46	South Sudan	24/01/2013	-	-
45	Somalia	01/06/1991	-	-
44	Sierra Leone	14/04/1992	13/05/2002	18/06/2002
43	Seychelles	27/02/1992	13/02/1992	27/02/1992
42	Senegal	18/05/1992	29/09/1998	30/10/1998
41	Sahrawi Arab Democratic Republic	23/10/1992	-	-
40	South Africa	10/10/1997	07/01/2000	21/01/2000
39	Rwanda	02/10/1991	11/05/2001	17/05/2001
38	Niger	13/07/1999	11/12/1996	05/03/1997
37	Nigeria	13/07/1999	23/07/2001	02/05/2003
36	Namibia	13/07/1999	23/07/2004	26/08/2004
35	Mauritius	07/11/1991	14/02/1992	27/02/1992
34	Mauritania	-	21/09/2005	14/12/2005
33	Mozambique	-	15/07/1998	22/12/1998
32	Morocco	-	-	-
31	Malawi	13/07/1999	16/09/1999	17/11/1999
30	Mali	28/02/1996	03/06/1998	14/08/1998
29	Madagascar	27/02/1992	30/03/2005	24/06/2005
28	Liberia	14/05/1992	01/08/2007	15/07/2008





African Union Headquarters PO. Box 3243, Roosvelt Street W21K19, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel: +251 (0) 11 551 77 00 Fax: +251 (0) 11 551 78 44 www.au.int ♥ ● ORGANIZATION OF AFRICAN UNITY



ORGANISATION DE L'UNITE AFRICAINE

شظمة الوحــدة الافريقيــة

ORGANIZAÇÃO DA UNIDADE AFRICANA

Addis Ababa - Ethiopia Box 3243 Tel. 517700 Telex 21046 Fax (2511) 513036

CAB/LEG/153/Rev.2

CHARTE AFRICAINE DES DROITS ET DU BIEN-ETRE DE L'ENFANT

CAB/LEG/153/Rev.2

PREAMBULE

Les Etats africains membres de l'Organisation de l'Unité Africaine parties à la présente Charte intitulée "Charte Africaine sur les Droits et le Bien-être de l'Enfant",

<u>Considérant</u> que la Charte de l'Organisation de l'Unité Africaine reconnaît l'importance primordiale des droits de l'homme et que la Charte Africaine des Droits de l'Homme et des Peuples a proclamé et convenu que toute personne peut se prévaloir de tous les droits et libertés reconnus et garantis dans ladite Charte, sans aucune distinction de race, de groupe ethnique, de couleur, de sexe, de langue, de religion, d'appartenance politique ou autre opinion, d'origine nationale et sociale, de fortune, de naissance ou autre statut,

<u>Rappelant</u> la Déclaration sur les Droits et le Bien-être de l'Enfant Africain (AHG/ST.4 (XVI) Rev.1) adoptée par l'Assemblée des Chefs d'Etat et de Gouvernement de l'Organisation de l'Unité Africaine, réunie en sa seizième session ordinaire à Monrovia (Libéria) du 17 au 20 juillet 1979, par laquelle elle reconnaît prendre toutes mesures appropriées pour promouvoir et protéger les droits et le bien-être de l'Enfant africain,

Notant avec inquiétude que la situation de nombreux enfants africains due aux seuls facteurs socio-économiques, culturels, traditionnels, de catastrophes naturelles, de poids démographiques, de conflits armés, ainsi qu'aux circonstances de développement, d'exploitation, de la faim, de handicaps, reste critique et que l'Enfant, en raison de son immaturité physique et mentale, a besoin d'une protection et de soins spéciaux,

<u>Reconnaissant</u> que l'enfant occupe une place unique et privilégiée dans la société africaine et que, pour assurer l'épanouissement intégral et harmonieux de sa personnalité, l'Enfant devrait grandir dans un milieu familial, dans une atmosphère de bonheur, d'amour et de compréhension,

<u>Reconnaissant</u> que l'Enfant, compte tenu des besoins liés à son développement physique et mental, a besoin de soins particuliers pour son développement corporel, physique, mental, moral et social et qu'il a besoin d'une protection légale, dans des conditions de liberté, de dignité et de sécurité,

<u>Prenant en considération</u> les vertus de leur héritage culturel, leur passé historique et les valeurs de la civilisation africaine qui devraient inspirer et guider leur réflexion en matière de droits et de protection de l'Enfant,

<u>Considérant</u> que la promotion et la protection des droits et du bien-être de l'Enfant supposent également que tous s'acquittent de leurs devoirs,

<u>Réaffirmant leur adhésion</u> aux principes des droits et de la protection de l'Enfant consacrés dans les déclarations, conventions et autres instruments adoptés par l'Organisation de l'Unité Africaine et par l'Organisation des Nations Unies, notamment la Convention des Nations Unies sur les Droits de l'Enfant et la Déclaration des Chefs d'Etat et de Gouvernement sur les Droits et le Bien-Etre de l'Enfant Africain.

CONVIENNENT DE CE QUI SUIT :

PREMIERE PARTIE : DROITS ET DEVOIRS

Chapitre premier

Droits et protection de l'Enfant

Article 1 : Obligations des Etats membres

1. Les Etats membres de l'Organisation de l'Unité Africaine, parties à la présente Charte, reconnaissent les droits, libertés et devoirs consacrés dans la présente Charte et s'engagent à prendre toutes les mesures nécessaires, conformément à leurs procédures constitutionnelles et aux dispositions de la présente Charte, pour adopter toutes les mesures législatives ou autres nécessaires pour donner effet aux dispositions de la présente Charte.

2. Aucune disposition de la présente Charte n'a d'effet sur une quelconque disposition plus favorable à la réalisation des droits et de la protection de l'enfant figurant dans la législation d'un Etat partie ou dans toute autre convention ou accord international en vigueur dans ledit Etat.

3. Toute coutume, tradition, pratique culturelle ou religieuse incompatible avec les droits, devoirs et obligations énoncés dans la présente Charte doit être découragée dans la mesure de cette incompatibilité.

DEFINITION DE L'ENFANT

Article 2

Aux termes de la présente Charte, on entend par "Enfant" tout être humain âgé de moins de 18 ans.

NON-DISCRIMINATION

Article 3

Tout enfant a droit de jouir de tous les droits et libertés reconnus et garantis par la présente Charte, sans distinction de race, de groupe ethnique, de couleur, de sexe, de langue, de religion, d'appartenance politique ou autre opinion, d'origine nationale et sociale, de fortune, de naissance ou autre statut, et sans distinction du même ordre pour ses parents ou son tuteur légal.

INTERET SUPERIEUR DE L'ENFANT

Article 4

1. Dans toute action concernant un enfant entreprise par une quelconque personne ou autorité, l'intérêt de l'enfant sera la considération primordiale.

2. Dans toute procédure judiciaire ou administrative affectant un enfant qui est capable de communiquer, on fera en sorte que les vues de l'enfant puissent être entendues soit directement, soit par le truchement d'un représentant impartial qui prendra part à la procédure, et ses vues seront prises en considération par l'autorité compétente conformément aux dispositions des lois applicables en la matière.

SURVIE ET DEVELOPPEMENT

Article 5

1. Tout enfant a droit à la vie. Ce droit est imprescriptible. Ce droit est protégé par la loi.

2. Les Etats parties à la présente Charte assurent, dans toute la mesure du possible, la survie, la protection et le développement de l'enfant.

3. La peine de mort n'est pas prononcée pour les crimes commis par des enfants.

NOM ET NATIONALITE

Article 6

1. Tout enfant a droit à un nom dès sa naissance.

2. Tout enfant est enregistré immédiatement après sa naissance.

3. Tout enfant a le droit d'acquérir une nationalité.

4. Les Etats parties à la présente Charte s'engagent à veiller à ce que leurs législations reconnaissent le principe selon lequel un enfant a droit d'acquérir la nationalité de l'Etat sur le territoire duquel il/elle est né(e) si, au moment de sa naissance, il/elle ne peut prétendre à la nationalité d'aucun autre Etat conformément à ses lois.

LIBERTE D'EXPRESSION

Article 7

Tout enfant qui est capable de communiquer se verra garantir le droit d'exprimer ses opinions librement dans tous les domaines et de faire connaître ses opinions sous réserve des restrictions prévues par la loi.

LIBERTE D'ASSOCIATION

Article 8

Tout enfant a droit à la libre association et à la liberté de rassemblement pacifique conformément à la loi.

LIBERTE DE PENSEE, DE CONSCIENCE ET DE RELIGION

Article 9

1. Tout enfant a droit à la liberté de pensée, de conscience et de religion.

2. Les parents et, le cas échéant, le tuteur légal, devront fournir conseils et orientations dans l'exercice de ces droits d'une façon et dans la mesure compatible avec l'évolution des capacités et l'intérêt majeur de l'enfant.

3. Les Etats parties à la présente Charte devront respecter l'obligation des parents et, le cas échéant, du tuteur, de fournir conseils et orientations dans la jouissance de ces droits, conformément aux lois et politiques nationales applicables en la matière.

PROTECTION DE LA VIE PRIVEE

Article 10

Aucun enfant ne peut être soumis à une ingérence arbitraire ou illégale dans sa vie privée, sa famille, son foyer ou sa correspondance, ni à des atteintes à son honneur ou à sa réputation, étant entendu toutefois que les parents gardent le droit d'exercer un contrôle raisonnable sur la conduite de leur enfant. L'enfant a le droit à la protection de la loi contre de telles ingérences ou atteintes.

EDUCATION

Article 11

- 1. Tout enfant a droit à l'éducation.
- 2. L'éducation de l'enfant vise à :
 - a) promouvoir et développer la personnalité de l'enfant, ses talents ainsi que ses capacités mentales et physiques jusqu'à leur plein épanouissement;
 - b) encourager le respect des droits de l'homme et des libertés fondamentales, notamment de ceux qui sont énoncés dans les dispositions des divers instruments africains relatifs aux droits de l'homme et des peuples et dans les déclarations et conventions internationales sur les droits de l'homme;
 - c) la préservation et le renforcement des valeurs morales, traditionnelles et culturelles africaines positives;

- d) préparer l'enfant à mener une vie responsable dans une société libre, dans un esprit de compréhension, de tolérance, de dialogue, de respect mutuel et d'amitié entre les peuples, et entre les groupes ethniques, les tribus et les communautés religieuses;
- e) préserver l'indépendance nationale et l'intégrité territoriale;
- f) promouvoir et instaurer l'unité et la solidarité africaines;
- g) susciter le respect pour l'environnement et les ressources naturelles;
- h) promouvoir la compréhension des soins de santé primaires par l'enfant.

3. Les Etats parties à la présente Charte prennent toutes les mesures appropriées en vue de parvenir à la pleine réalisation de ce droit et, en particulier, ils s'engagent à :

- a) fournir un enseignement de base gratuit et obligatoire ;
- b) encourager le développement de l'enseignement secondaire sous différentes formes et le rendre progressivement gratuit et accessible à tous;
- c) rendre l'enseignement supérieur accessible à tous, compte tenu des capacités et des aptitudes de chacun par tous les moyens appropriés;

- d) prendre des mesures pour encourager la fréquentation régulière des établissements scolaires et réduire le taux d'abandons scolaires;
- e) prendre des mesures spéciales pour veiller à ce que les enfants féminins doués et défavorisés aient un accès égal à l'éducation dans toutes les couches sociales.

4. Les Etats parties à la présente Charte respectent les droits et devoirs des parents et, le cas échéant, ceux du tuteur légal, de choisir pour leurs enfants un établissement scolaire autre que ceux établis par les autorités publiques, sous réserve que celui-ci réponde aux normes minimales approuvées par l'Etat, pour assurer l'éducation religieuse et morale de l'enfant d'une manière compatible avec l'évolution de ses capacités.

5. Les Etats parties à la présente Charte prennent toutes les mesures appropriées pour veiller à ce qu'un enfant qui est soumis à la discipline d'un établissement scolaire ou de ses parents soit traité avec humanité et avec respect pour la dignité inhérente de l'enfant, et conformément à la présente Charte.

6. Les Etats parties à la présente Charte prennent toutes les mesures appropriées pour veiller à ce que les filles qui deviennent enceintes avant d'avoir achevé leur éducation aient la possibilité de la poursuivre compte tenu de leurs aptitudes individuelles.

7. Aucune disposition du présent article ne peut être interprétée comme allant à l'encontre de la liberté d'un individu ou d'une institution de créer et de diriger un établissement d'enseignement, sous réserve que les principes énoncés au paragraphe 1 du présent article soient respectés et que l'enseignement dispensé dans cet établissement respecte les normes minimales fixées par l'Etat compétent.

LOISIRS, ACTIVITES RECREATIVES ET CULTURELLES

Article 12

1. Les Etats parties reconnaissent le droit de l'enfant au repos et aux loisirs, le droit de se livrer à des jeux et des activités récréatives convenant à son âge, et de participer librement à la vie culturelle et artistique.

2. Les Etats parties respectent et favorisent le droit de l'enfant à participer pleinement à la vie culturelle et artistique en favorisant l'éclosion d'activités culturelles, artistiques, récréatives et de loisirs appropriés, accessibles à tous.

ENFANTS HANDICAPES

Article 13

1. Tout enfant qui est mentalement ou physiquement handicapé a droit à des mesures spéciales de protection correspondant à ses besoins physiques et moraux et dans des conditions qui garantissent sa dignité et qui favorisent son autonomie et sa participation active à la vie communautaire.

2. Les Etats parties à la présente Charte s'engagent, dans la mesure des ressources disponibles, à fournir à l'enfant handicapé et à ceux qui sont chargés de son entretien, l'assistance qui aura été demandée et qui est appropriée compte tenu de la condition de l'enfant et veilleront, notamment, à ce que l'enfant handicapé ait effectivement accès à la formation, à la préparation à la vie professionnelle et aux activités récréatives d'une manière propre à assurer le plus pleinement possible son intégration sociale, son épanouissement individuel et son développement culturel et moral.

3. Les Etats parties à la présente Charte utilisent les ressources dont ils disposent en vue de donner progressivement la pleine commodité de mouvement aux handicapés mentaux ou physiques et de leur permettre l'accès aux édifices publics construits en élevation et aux autres lieux auxquels les handicapés peuvent légitimement souhaiter avoir accès.

SANTE ET SERVICES MEDICAUX

Article 14

1. Tout enfant a le droit de jouir du meilleur état de santé physique, mental et spirituel possible.

2. Les Etats parties à la présente Charte s'engagent à poursuivre le plein exercice de ce droit, notamment en prenant des mesures aux fins ci-après :

- a) Réduire la mortalité prénatale et infantile,
- b) Assurer la fourniture de l'assistance médicale et des soins de santé nécessaires à tous les enfants, en mettant l'accent sur le développement de soins de santé primaires,
- c) Assurer la fourniture d'une alimentation adéquate et d'eau potable,
- d) Lutter contre la maladie et la malnutrition dans le cadre des soins de santé primaires moyennant l'application des techniques appropriées,
- e) Dispenser des soins appropriées aux femmes enceintes et aux mères allaitantes,

- f) Développer la prophylaxie et l'éducation et les services de planification familiale,
- g) Intégrer les programmes de services de santé de base dans les plans de développement national,
- h) Veiller à ce que tous les secteurs de la société, en particulier les parents, les dirigeants de communautés d'enfants et les agents communautaires soient informés et encouragés à utiliser les connaissances alimentaires en matière de santé et de nutrition de l'enfant : avantages de l'allaitement au sein, hygiène et hygiène du milieu et prévention des accidents domestiques et autres,
- Associer activement les organisations non gouvernementales, les communautés locales et les populations bénéficiaires à la planification et à la gestion des programmes de services de base pour les enfants,
- j) Soutenir par des moyens techniques et financiers la mobilisation des ressources des communautés locales en faveur du développement des soins de santé primaires pour les enfants.

TRAVAIL DES ENFANTS

Article 15

1. L'enfant est protégé de toute forme d'exploitation économique et de l'exercice d'un travail qui comporte probablement des dangers ou qui risque de perturber l'éducation de l'enfant ou de compromettre sa santé ou son développement physique, mental, spirituel, moral et social.

2. Les Etats parties à la présente Charte prennent toutes les mesures législatives et administratives appropriées, pour assurer la pleine application du présent article, qui visent aussi bien le secteur officiel et informel que le secteur parallèle de l'emploi, compte tenu des dispositions pertinentes des instruments de l'Organisation Internationale du Travail touchant les enfants. Les parties s'engagent notamment :

- a) à fixer, par une loi à cet effet, l'âge minimal requis pour être admis à exercer tel ou tel emploi,
- b) à adopter des règlements appropriés concernant les heures de travail et les conditions d'emploi,
- c) à prévoir des pénalités appropriées ou autres sanctions pour garantir l'application effective du présent article,
- d) à favoriser la diffusion d'informations sur les risques que comporte l'emploi d'une main-d'œuvre infantile, à tous les secteurs de la communauté.

PROTECTION CONTRE L'ABUS ET LES MAUVAIS TRAITEMENTS

Article 16

1. Les Etats parties à la présente Charte prennent des mesures législatives, administratives, sociales et éducatives spécifiques pour protéger l'enfant contre toute forme de tortures, traitements inhumains et dégradants et en particulier, toute forme d'atteinte ou d'abus physique ou mental, de négligence ou de mauvais traitements y compris les sévices sexuels, lorsqu'il est confié à la garde d'un parent, d'un tuteur légal, de l'autorité scolaire ou de toute autre personne ayant la garde de l'enfant.

2. Les mesures de protection prévues en vertu du présent article comprennent des procédures effectives pour la création d'organismes de surveillance spéciaux chargés de fournir à l'enfant et à ceux qui en ont la charge le soutien nécessaire ainsi que d'autres formes de mesures préventives, et pour la détection et le signalement des cas de négligences ou de mauvais traitements infligés à un enfant, l'engagement d'une procédure judiciaire et d'une enquête à ce sujet, le traitement du cas et son suivi.

ADMINISTRATION DE LA JUSTICE POUR MINEURS

Article 17

1. Tout enfant accusé ou déclaré coupable d'avoir enfreint la loi pénale a droit à un traitement spécial compatible avec le sens qu'a l'enfant de sa dignité et de sa valeur et propre à renforcer le respect de l'enfant pour les droits de l'homme et les libertés fondamentales des autres.

2. Les Etats parties à la présente Charte doivent en particulier:

- a) veiller à ce qu'aucun enfant qui est détenu ou emprisonné, ou qui est autrement dépourvu de sa liberté ne soit soumis à la torture ou à des traitements ou châtiments inhumains ou dégradants,
- b) veiller à ce que les enfants soient séparés des adultes sur les lieux de détention ou d'emprisonnement,
- c) veiller à ce que tout enfant accusé d'avoir enfreint la loi pénale,

- soit présumé innocent jusqu'à ce qu'il ait été dûment reconnu coupable,
- soit informé promptement et en détail des accusations portées contre lui et bénéficie des services d'un interprète s'il ne peut comprendre la langue utilisée,
- iii) reçoive une assistance légale ou autre appropriée pour préparer et présenter sa défense,
- iv) voie son cas tranché aussi rapidement que possible par un tribunal impartial et, s'il est reconnu coupable, ait la possibilité de faire appel auprès d'un tribunal de plus haute instance,
- v) ne soit pas forcé à témoigner ou à plaider coupable.
- d) interdire à la presse et au public d'assister au procès.

3. Le but essentiel du traitement de l'enfant durant le procès, et aussi s'il est déclaré coupable d'avoir enfreint la loi pénale, est son amendement, sa réintégration au sein de sa famille et sa réhabilitation sociale.

4. Un âge minimal doit être fixé, en-deçà duquel les enfants sont présumés ne pas avoir la capacité d'enfreindre la loi pénale.

PROTECTION DE LA FAMILLE

Article 18

1. La famille est la cellule de base naturelle de la société. Elle doit être protégée et soutenue par l'Etat pour son installation et son développement.

2. Les Etats parties à la présente Charte prennent des mesures appropriées pour assurer l'égalité de droits et de responsabilités des époux à l'égard des enfants durant le mariage et pendant sa dissolution. En cas de dissolution, des dispositions sont prises pour assurer la protection des enfants.

3. Aucun enfant ne peut être privé de son entretien en raison du statut marital de ses parents.

SOINS ET PROTECTION PAR LES PARENTS

Article 19

1. Tout enfant a droit à la protection et aux soins de ses parents et, si possible, réside avec ces derniers. Aucun enfant ne peut être séparé de ses parents contre son gré, sauf si l'autorité judiciaire décide, conformément aux lois applicables en la matière, que cette séparation est dans l'intérêt même de l'enfant.

2. Tout enfant qui est séparé de l'un de ses parents ou des deux, a le droit de maintenir des relations personnelles et des contacts directs avec ses deux parents régulièrement.

3. Si la séparation résulte de l'action d'un Etat partie, celuici doit fournir à l'enfant ou à défaut, à un autre membre de la famille, les renseignements nécessaires concernant le lieu de résidence du ou des membres de la famille qui sont absents. Les Etats parties veilleront également à ce que la soumission d'une telle requête n'ait pas de conséquences fâcheuses pour la (ou les) personne (s) au sujet de laquelle cette requête est formulée.

4. Si un enfant est appréhendé par un Etat partie, ses parents ou son tuteur en sont informés par ledit Etat le plus rapidement possible.

RESPONSABILITE DES PARENTS

Article 20

1. Les parents ou autre personne chargée de l'enfant sont responsables au premier chef de son éducation et de son épanouissement et ont le devoir:

- a) de veiller à ne jamais perdre de vue les intérêts de l'enfant,
- b) d'assurer, compte tenu de leurs aptitudes et de leurs capacités financières, les conditions de vie indispensables à l'épanouissement de l'enfant,
- c) de veiller à ce que la discipline domestique soit administrée de manière à ce que l'enfant soit traité avec humanité et avec le respect dû à la dignité humaine.

2. Les Etats parties à la présente Charte, compte tenu de leurs moyens et de leur situation nationale, prennent toutes les mesures appropriées pour :

- assister les parents ou autres personnes responsables de l'enfant et, en cas de besoin, prévoir des programmes d'assistance matérielle et de soutien notamment en ce qui concerne la nutrition, la santé, l'éducation, l'habillement et le logement,
- b) assister les parents ou autres personnes responsables de l'enfant pour les aider à s'acquitter de leurs tâches visà-vis de l'enfant, et assurer le développement d'institutions qui se chargent de donner des soins aux enfants,
- c) veiller à ce que les enfants des familles où les deux parents travaillent, bénéficient d'installations et de services de garderie.

PROTECTION CONTRE LES PRATIQUES NEGATIVES SOCIALES ET CULTURELLES

Article 21

1. Les Etats parties à la présente Charte prennent toutes les mesures appropriées pour abolir les coutumes et les pratiques négatives, culturelles et sociales qui sont au détriment du bien-être, de la dignité, de la croissance et du développement normal de l'enfant, en particulier:

- a) les coutumes et pratiques préjudiciables à la santé, voire à la vie de l'enfant,
- b) les coutumes et pratiques qui constituent une discrimination à l'egard de certains enfants, pour des raisons de sexe ou autres raisons.

2. Les mariages d'enfants et la promesse de jeunes filles et garçons en mariage sont interdits et des mesures effectives, y compris des lois, sont prises pour spécifier que l'âge minimal requis pour le mariage est de 18 ans et pour rendre obligatoire l'enregistrement de tous les mariages dans un registre officiel.

5.

CONFLITS ARMES

Article 22

1. Les Etats parties à la présente Charte s'engagent à respecter, et à faire respecter les règles du Droit International Humanitaire applicable en cas de conflits armés qui affectent particulièrement les enfants.

2. Les Etats parties à la présente Charte prennent toutes les mesures nécessaires pour veiller à ce qu'aucun enfant ne prenne directement part aux hostilités, et en particulier, à ce qu'aucun enfant ne soit enrôlé sous les drapeaux.

3. Les Etats parties à la présente Charte doivent, conformément aux obligations qui leur incombent en vertu du Droit International Humanitaire, protéger la population civile en cas de conflit armé et prendre toutes les mesures possibles pour assurer la protection et le soin des enfants qui sont affectés par un conflit armé. Ces dispositions s'appliquent aussi aux enfants dans des situations de conflits armés internes, de tensions ou de troubles civils.

ENFANTS REFUGIES

Article 23

1. Les Etats parties à la présente Charte prennent toutes les mesures appropriées pour veiller à ce qu'un enfant qui cherche à obtenir le statut de réfugié, ou qui est considéré comme réfugié en vertu du droit international ou national applicable en la matière reçoive, qu'il soit accompagné ou non par ses parents, un tuteur légal ou un proche parent, la protection et l'assistance humanitaire à laquelle il peut prétendre dans l'exercice des droits qui lui sont reconnus par la présente Charte et par tout autre instrument international relatif aux droits de l'homme et au droit humanitaire auquel les Etats sont parties.

2. Les Etats parties aident les organisations internationales chargées de protéger et d'assister les réfugiés dans leurs efforts pour protéger et assister les enfants visés au paragraphe 1 du présent article et pour retrouver les parents ou les proches d'enfants réfugiés non accompagnés en vue d'obtenir les renseignements nécessaires pour les remettre à leur famille.

3. Si aucun parent, tuteur légal ou proche parent ne peut être trouvé, l'enfant se verra accordé la même protection que tout autre enfant privé, temporairement ou en permanence, de son milieu familial pour quelque raison que ce soit.

4. Les dispositions du présent article s'appliquent <u>mutatis mutandis</u> aux enfants déplacés à l'intérieur d'un pays que ce soit par suite d'une catastrophe naturelle, d'un conflit interne, de troubles civils, d'un écroulement de l'édifice économique et social, ou de toute autre cause.

ADOPTION

Article 24

Les Etats parties qui reconnaissent le système de l'adoption veillent à ce que l'intérêt de l'enfant prévale dans tout les cas et ils s'engagent notamment à:

> a) créer des institutions compétentes pour décider des questions d'adoption et veiller à ce que l'adoption soit effectuée conformément aux lois et procédures applicables en la matière et sur la base de toutes les informations pertinentes et fiables disponibles permettant de savoir si l'adoption peut être autorisée compte tenu du statut de l'enfant vis-à-vis de ses parents, de ses proches parents et de son tuteur et si, le cas échéant, les personnes concernées ont consenti en connaissance de cause à l'adoption après avoir été conseillées de manière appropriée.

- b) reconnaître que l'adoption transnationale dans les pays qui ont ratifié la Convention internationale ou la présente Charte ou y ont adhéré, peut être considérée comme un dernier recours pour assurer l'entretien de l'enfant, si celui-ci ne peut être placé dans une famille d'accueil ou une famille adoptive, ou s'il est impossible de prendre soin de l'enfant d'une manière appropriée dans son pays d'origine;
- c) veiller à ce que l'enfant affecté par une adoption transnationale jouisse d'une protection et de normes équivalentes à celles qui existent dans le cas d'une adoption nationale;
- d) prendre toutes les mesures appropriées pour que, en cas d'adoption transnationale, ce placement ne donne pas lieu à un trafic ni à un gain financier inapproprié pour ceux qui cherchent à adopter un enfant;
- e) promouvoir les objectifs du présent article en concluant des accords bilatéraux ou multilatéraux, et s'attacher à ce que, dans ce cadre, le placement d'un enfant dans un autre pays soit mené à bien par les autorités ou organismes compétents;
- f) créer un mécanisme chargé de surveiller le bien-être de l'enfant adopté.

SEPARATION AVEC LES PARENTS

Article 25

1. Tout enfant qui est, en permanence ou temporairement, privé de son environnement familial pour quelque raison que ce soit, a droit à une protection et une assistance spéciales.

2. Les Etats parties à la présente Charte s'engagent à veiller à :

- a) ce qu'un enfant qui est orphelin ou qui est temporairement ou en permanence privé de son milieu familial, ou dont l'intérêt exige qu'il soit retiré de ce milieu, reçoive des soins familiaux de remplacement, qui pourraient comprendre notamment le placement dans un foyer d'accueil, ou le placement dans une institution convenable assurant le soin des enfants;
- b) ce que toutes les mesures nécessaires soient prises pour retrouver et réunir l'enfant avec les parents là où la séparation est causée par un déplacement interne et externe provoqué par des conflits armés ou des catastrophes naturelles.

3. Si l'on envisage de placer un enfant dans une structure d'accueil ou d'adoption, en considérant l'intérêt de l'enfant, on ne perdra pas de vue qu'il est souhaitable d'assurer une continuité dans d'éducation de l'enfant et on ne perdra pas de vue les origines ethniques, religieuses et linguistiques de l'enfant.

PROTECTION CONTRE L'APARTHEID ET LA DISCRIMINATION

Article 26

1. Les Etats parties à la présente Charte s'engagent, individuellement et collectivement, à accorder la plus haute priorité aux besoins spéciaux des enfants qui vivent sous le régime d'apartheid.

2. Les Etats parties à la présente Charte s'engagent en outre, individuellement et collectivement, à accorder la plus haute priorité aux besoins spéciaux des enfants qui vivent sous des régimes pratiquant la discrimination raciale, ethnique, religieuse ou toutes autres formes de discrimination ainsi que dans les Etats sujets à la déstabilisation militaire.

3. Les Etats parties s'engagent à fournir, chaque fois que possible, une assistance matérielle à ces enfants et à orienter leurs efforts vers l'élimination de toutes les formes de discrimination et d'apartheid du continent africain.

EXPLOITATION SEXUELLE

Article 27

1. Les Etats parties à la présente Charte s'engagent à protéger l'enfant contre toute forme d'exploitation ou de mauvais traitements sexuels et s'engagent en particulier à prendre des mesures pour empêcher :

> a) l'incitation, la coercition ou l'encouragement d'un enfant à s'engager dans toute activité sexuelle,

- b) l'utilisation d'enfants à des fins de prostitution ou toute autre pratique sexuelle,
- c) l'utilisation d'enfants dans des activités et des scènes ou publications pornographiques.

CONSOMMATION DE DROGUES

Article 28

Les Etats parties à la présente Charte prennent toutes les mesures appropriées pour protéger l'enfant contre l'usage illicite de substances narcotiques et psychotropes telles que définies dans les traités internationaux pertinents, et pour empêcher l'utilisation des enfants dans la production et le trafic de ces substances.

VENTE, TRAITE, ENLEVEMENT ET MENDICITE

Article 29

Les Etats parties à la présente Charte prennent les mesures appropriées pour empêcher :

- a) l'enlèvement, la vente ou le trafic d'enfants à quelque fin que ce soit ou sous toute forme que ce soit, par toute personne que ce soit, y compris leurs parents ou leur tuteur légal,
- b) l'utilisation des enfants dans la mendicité.

ENFANTS DES MERES EMPRISONNEES

Article 30

Les Etats parties à la présente Charte s'engagent à prévoir un traitement spécial pour les femmes enceintes et les mères de nourissons et de jeunes enfants qui ont été accusées ou jugées coupables d'infraction à la loi pénale et s'engagent en particulier à :

- a) veiller à ce qu'une peine autre qu'une peine d'emprisonnement soit envisagée d'abord dans tous les cas lorsqu'une sentence est rendue contre ces mères,
- b) établir et promouvoir des mesures changeantl'emprisonnement en institution pour le traitement de ces mères,
- c) créer des institutions spéciales pour assurer la détention de ces mères,
- d) veiller à interdire qu'une mère soit emprisonnée avec son enfant,
- e) veiller à interdire qu'une sentence de mort soit rendue contre ces mères,
- f) veiller à ce que le système pénitencier ait essentiellement pour but la réforme, la réintégration de la mère au sein de sa famille et la réhabilitation sociale.

RESPONSABILITES DES ENFANTS

Article 31

Tout enfant a des responsabilités envers sa famille, la société, l'Etat et toute autre communauté reconnue légalement ainsi qu'envers la communauté internationale. L'enfant, selon son âge et ses capacités, et sous réserve des restrictions contenues dans la présente Charte, a le devoir:

- a) d'oeuvrer pour la cohésion de sa famille, de respecter ses parents, ses supérieurs et les personnes âgées en toutes circonstances et de les assister en cas de besoin;
- b) de servir sa communauté nationale en plaçant ses capacités physiques et intellectuelles à sa disposition;
- c) de préserver et de renforcer la solidarité de la société et de la nation;
- d) de préserver et de renforcer les valeurs culturelles africaines dans ses rapports avec les autres membres de la société, dans un esprit de tolérance, de dialogue et de consultation, de contribuer au bien-être moral de la société;
- e) de préserver et de renforcer l'indépendance nationale et l'intégrité de son pays;
- f) de contribuer au mieux de ses capacités, en toutes circonstances et à tous les niveaux, à promouvoir et à réaliser l'unité africaine.

DEUXIEME PARTIE Chapitre 2 Création et organisation d'un comité sur les droits et le bien-être de l'enfant

LE COMITE

Article 32

Un Comité africain d'experts sur les droits et le bien-être de l'enfant ci-après dénommé "le Comité" est créé auprès de l'Organisation de l'Unité Africaine pour promouvoir et protéger les droits et le bienêtre de l'enfant.

Article 33 : Composition

- Le Comité est composé de onze membres ayant les plus hautes qualités de moralité, d'intégrité, d'impartialité et de compétence pour toutes les questions concernant les droits et bien-être de l'enfant.
- 2. Les membres du Comité siègent à titre personnel.
- Le Comité ne peut comprendre plus d'un ressortissant du même Etat.

ELECTION

Article 34

Dès l'entrée en vigueur de la présente Charte, les membres du Comité sont élus au scrutin secret par la Conférence des Chefs d'Etat et de Gouvernement sur une liste de personnes présentée à cet effet par les Etats parties à la présente Charte.

CANDIDATS

Article 35

Chaque Etat partie à la présente Charte peut présenter deux candidats au plus. Les candidats doivent être des ressortissants de l'un des Etats parties à la présente Charte. Quand deux candidats sont présentés par un Etat, l'un des deux ne peut être national de cet Etat.

Article 36

1. Le Secrétaire Général de l'Organisation de l'Unité Africaine invite les Etats parties à la présente Charte à procéder, dans un délai d'au moins six mois avant les élections, à la présentation des candidats au Comité.

2. Le Secrétaire Général de l'Organisation de l'Unité Africaine dresse la liste alphabétique des candidats et la communique aux Chefs d'Etat et de Gouvernement au moins deux mois avant les élections.

DUREE DU MANDAT

Article 37

1. Les membres du COmité sont élus pour un mandat de cinq ans et ne peuvent être rééligibles. Toutefois, le mandat de quatre des membres élus lors de la première élection prend fin au bout de deux ans et le mandat des six autres au bout de quatre ans.

2. Immédiatement après la première élection, les noms des membres visés à l'alinéa 1 du présent article sont tirés au sort par le Président de la Conférence.

3. Le Secrétaire Général de l'Organisation de l'Unité Africaine convoque la première réunion du Comité au siège de l'Organisation, dans les six mois suivant l'élection des membres du Comité et, ensuite, le Comité se réunit chaque fois que nécessaire sur convocation de son président, au moins une fois par an.

BUREAU

Article 38

1. Le Comité établit son règlement intérieur.

2. Le Comité élit son Bureau pour une période de deux ans.

3. Le quorum est constitué par sept membres du Comité.

- En cas de partage égal des voix, le Président a une voix prépondérante.
- Les langues de travail du Comité sont les langues officielles de l'OUA.

Article 39

Si un membre du Comité laisse son poste vacant pour quelque raison que ce soit avant que son mandat soit venu à terme, l'Etat qui aura désigné ce membre en désignera un autre parmi ses ressortissants pour servir pendant la durée du mandat qui restera à courir, sous réserve de l'approbation de la conférence.

SECRETARIAT

Article 40

1. Le Secrétaire Général de l'Organisation de l'Unité Africaine désigne un Secrétaire du Comité.

PRIVILEGES ET IMMUNITES

Article 41

Dans l'exercice de leurs fonctions, les membres du Comité jouissent des privilèges et immunités prévus dans la Convention générale sur les privilèges et immunités de l'Organisation de l'Unité Africaine.

<u>Chapitre 3</u> Mandat et Procédure du Comité

MANDAT

Article 42

Le Comité a pour mission de :

- a) promouvoir et protéger les droits consacrés dans la présente Charte et notamment :
- i) rassembler les documents, et les informations, faire procéder à des évaluations inter-disciplinaires concernant les problèmes africains dans le domaine des droits et de la protection de l'enfant, organiser des réunions, encourager les institutions nationales et locales compétentes en matière de droits et de protection de l'enfant, et au besoin, faire connaître ses vues et présenter des recommandations aux gouvernements;
- ii) élaborer et formuler des principes et des règles visant à protéger les droits et le bien-être de l'enfant en Afrique;
- iii) coopérer avec d'autres institutions et organisations africaines internationales et régionales s'occupant de la promotion et de la protection des droits et du bien-être de l'enfant.

- b) Suivre l'application des droits consacrés dans la présente Charte et veiller à leur respect.
- c) Interpréter les dispositions de la présente Charte à la demande des Etats parties, des institutions de l'Organisation de l'Unité Africaine ou de toute autre institution reconnue par cette Organisation ou par un Etat membre.
- d) S'acquitter de toute autre tâche qui pourrait lui être confiée par la Conférence des Chefs d'Etat et de Gouvernement, par le Secrétaire Général de l'OUA ou par tout autre organe de l'OUA.

SOUMISSION DES RAPPORTS

Article 43

1. Tout Etat partie à la présente Charte s'engage à soumettre au Comité par l'intermédiaire du Secrétaire Général de l'Organisation de l'Unité Africaine, des rapports sur les mesures qu'ils auront adoptées pour donner effet aux dispositions de la présente Charte ainsi que sur les progrès réalisés dans l'exercice de ces droits :

- a) dans les deux ans qui suivront l'entrée en vigueur de la présente Charte pour l'Etat partie concerné;
- b) ensuite, tous les trois ans.

Tout rapport établi en vertu du présent article doit :

- a) contenir suffisamment d'informations sur la mise en oeuvre de la présente Charte dans le pays considéré;
- b) indiquer, le cas échéant, les facteurs et les difficultés qui entravent le respect des obligations prévues par la présente Charte.

3. Un Etat partie qui aura présenté un premier rapport complet au Comité n'aura pas besoin, dans les rapports qu'il présentera ultérieurement en application du paragraphe 1 a) du présent article, de répéter les renseignements de base qu'il aura précédemment fournis.

COMMUNICATIONS

Article 44

2.

1. Le Comité est habilité à recevoir des communications concernant toute question traitée par la présente Charte, de tout individu, groupe ou organisation non gouvernementale reconnue par l'Organisation de l'Unité Africaine, par un Etat membre, ou par l'Organisation des Nations Unies.

2. Toute communication adressée au Comité contiendra le nom et l'adresse de l'auteur et sera examinée de façon confidentielle.

INVESTIGATION

Article 45

1. Le Comité peut recourir à toute méthode appropriée pour enquêter sur toute question relevant de la présente Charte, demander aux Etats parties toute information pertinente sur l'application de la présente Charte et recourir à toute méthode appropriée pour enquêter sur les mesures adoptées par un Etat partie pour appliquer la présente Charte.

2. Le Comité soumet à chacune des sessions ordinaires de la Conférence des Chefs d'Etat et de Gouvernement, un rapport sur ses activités.

3. Le Comité publie son rapport après examen par la Conférence des Chefs d'Etat et de Gouvernement.

4. Les Etats parties assurent aux rapports du Comité une large diffusion dans leurs propres pays.

<u>Chapitre 4</u> <u>Dispositions diverses</u> <u>SOURCES D'INSPIRATION</u>

Article 46

Le Comité s'inspire du droit international relatif aux droits de l'homme, notamment des dispositions de la Charte Africaine des Droits de l'Homme et des Peuples, de la Charte de l'Organisation de l'Unité Africaine, de la Déclaration Universelle des Droits de l'Homme, de la Convention Internationale sur les Droits de l'Enfant et d'autres instruments adoptés par l'Organisation des Nations Unies et par les pays africains dans le domaine des droits de l'homme ainsi que des valeurs du patrimoine traditionnel et culturel africain.

SIGNATURE, RATIFICATION OU ADHESION, ENTREE EN VIGUEUR

Article 47

1. La présente Charte est ouverte à la signature des Etats membres de l'Organisation de l'Unité Africaine.

2. La présente Charte sera soumise à la ratification ou à l'adhésion des Etats membres de l'OUA. Les instruments de ratification ou d'adhésion à la présente Charte seront déposés auprès du Secrétaire Général de l'Organisation de l'Unité Africaine.

3. La présente Charte entrera en vigueur dans les 30 jours suivant la réception par le Secrétaire Général de l'Organisation de l'Unité Africaine des instruments de ratification ou d'adhésion de 15 Etats membres de l'Organisation de l'Unité Africaine.

AMENDEMENT ET REVISION

Article 48

1. La présente Charte peut être amendée ou révisée si un Etat partie envoie à cet effet une demande écrite au Secrétaire Général de l'Organisation de l'Unité Africaine, sous réserve que l'amendement proposé soit soumis à la Conférence des Chefs d'Etat et de Gouvernement pour examen après que tous les Etats parties en aient été dûment avisés et après que le Comité ait donné son opinion sur l'amendement proposé.

 Tout amendement est adopté à la majorité simple des Etats parties.

Adoptée par la Vingt-Sixième Conférence des Chefs d'Etat et de Gouvernement de l'OUA.

Addis Abéba, Ethiopie, Juillet 1990